RECEIVED

APR 27 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-01-00306

Supreme Court Case No. 2016-001512

Richard Wilson, Michael J. Antoniak, Jr., Marsha L. Antoniak,
Anita L. Belton, Prescott Darren Bosler, Johnny Calhoun, Sallie
Calhoun, Cynthia Gary, Robert Wayne Gary, Eugene P. Lawton,
Jr., Jeanette Norman, James Robert Shirley, Robert W. Spires,
Crystal Spires Wiley, Lewis S. Williams, Janie Wiltshire, Benjamin
Franklin Wofford, Jr., and Rebecca Hammond Wofford,.....*Petitioners,*

v.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal rests on the “foundational” principle that “arbitration is a matter of consent.” *Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. Animal Feeds Int’l Corp.*, 559 U.S. 662, 684 (2010). The requirement of consent is so fundamental that if a person has not agreed to arbitration, a court may not compel her to arbitrate her claims unless she has consistently availed herself of the contract containing the arbitration provision, such that it would be unfair for her to avoid that term. Likewise, even where a person has agreed to arbitrate certain disputes, he “cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

The Court of Appeals’ decision below turns that foundational principle on its head. The court held that insurance companies charged with violating South Carolina law can force customers and agents allegedly harmed by the companies’ conduct to arbitrate their claims based on an arbitration clause in a contract between the insurer and another company. The court did so even though the injured plaintiffs *never* agreed to arbitration; they’re *not* parties to the contract containing the arbitration clause; they have *never* sought to enforce the underlying contract or obtain any benefit from it; and *none* of their claims falls within the limited scope of the arbitration clause. That decision cannot be reconciled with this Court’s clear precedent, and it must be reversed.

This case stems from the actions of an insurance agent, Laura Willis, who issued policies and made representations on behalf of Defendants-Respondents Peerless Insurance Co., Montgomery Mutual Insurance Co., and Safeco Insurance Co. to customers in Abbeville County. Willis, who was reprimanded by the state insurance commission, allegedly boosted Respondents’ profits by forging insurance documents, issuing fake policies, charging people for nonexistent

policies, and undercutting the competition by fraudulently reducing rates. Plaintiffs, customers and insurance agents in Abbeville who were harmed by this unlawful conduct, brought statutory unfair trade practices claims and common-law tort claims against Respondents alleging that they are responsible for Willis' conduct. Respondents moved to compel arbitration, citing an arbitration clause in a contract (the "Agency Agreement") between Respondents and defendant Southern Risk Insurance Services, LLC, the insurance agency that employed Willis and her boss, Jesse Dantice.

The Agency Agreement, by its own terms, governs only the relationship between each Respondent insurance company and Southern Risk. Plaintiffs are not parties to the Agency Agreement. And the agreement says nothing about customers or competing agents; in fact, it expressly *disclaims* any obligations on the part of Respondents to nonparties like Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs did nothing to warrant enforcing the arbitration clause against them. As the circuit court found, they never sought to benefit from any part of the Agency Agreement; they do not allege any breach-of-contract claims; and the allegations in their complaints don't rely on any provision in—or any legal duty created by—the Agency Agreement. Their claims arise solely from South Carolina law. Indeed, Plaintiffs were not even aware of the contract or its arbitration clause until Respondents decided to seek arbitration a year into the litigation. And even if Plaintiffs were somehow bound, the arbitration clause itself is expressly limited to five potential disputes between parties Respondents and Southern Risk; it doesn't cover claims like the ones Plaintiffs brought.

Despite these facts, the Court of Appeals held that Plaintiffs must arbitrate their claims. The court admitted that Plaintiffs were not aware of the Agency Agreement before filing their lawsuit and that their claims do not rely on any terms of the agreement. But the court

nevertheless theorized that Plaintiffs would not be able to bring claims against the Insurers but for the Agency Agreement, which establishes the relationship between the Insurers and Southern Risk. On that basis, the court concluded that Plaintiffs were seeking to directly benefit from the Agency Agreement and that they should be bound by the contract's arbitration clause under the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

This ruling misunderstands both the law and Plaintiffs' claims. Equitable estoppel does not apply merely because a dispute would not have arisen but for a contractual relationship between the alleged wrongdoer and another party. *See R.J. Griffin & Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 384 F.3d 157, 162 (4th Cir. 2001). Nor does it apply where, as here, a nonparty plaintiff seeks to vindicate legal duties that exist independently of a contract between other parties. *See Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 562, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692-93 (2014). Plaintiffs have never sought any benefits under the Agency Agreement—they couldn't have, given that the only rights and duties set out in that agreement are those Respondents and Southern Risk undertook to each other. They allege only that Respondents violated their legal duties under South Carolina's unfair trade practices statutes and the common law—duties that Respondents owe to their customers and members of the public separate and apart from any contractual promises they chose to make to Southern Risk.

The court below also ruled that Plaintiffs' claims are within the scope of the Agency Agreement's arbitration clause. First, the court erroneously construed the clause as broad. Broad clauses, however, are those that extend to "all disputes 'arising out of or relating to' the contract." *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013). In contrast, the clause at issue here restricts the types of arbitrable claims to five topics—meaning that all other claims can be brought in court. For that reason, Respondent's counsel conceded—

and the circuit court found—that the Agency Agreement’s clause is narrow. And Plaintiffs’ claims are not among the five arbitrable disputes, which makes sense given that the clause was drafted to govern only disputes between Respondents and Southern Risk. That should have resolved the scope question once and for all. Instead, the court below, after interpreting the clause as broad, decided that Plaintiffs’ claims are within its scope because they are based on the Insurers’ contractual duties to Southern Risk. But this Court has made clear that the mere fact that a dispute would not have arisen but for the existence of a contractual relationship does *not* transform the dispute into one that arises from the contract. *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 149-50, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708, *cert. denied*, *World Fin. Corp. of S. Carolina v. Aiken*, 552 U.S. 991 (2007).

Both of the Court of Appeals’ rulings—on the nonparty issue and the scope issue—rest on a single flawed assumption: the belief that Plaintiffs’ claims are premised on rights and duties that would not exist but for the Agency Agreement. Essentially, the court seems to have equated Plaintiffs’ claims to breach-of-contract allegations. But that makes no sense: Plaintiffs have no right to enforce the promises in the Agency Agreement, which disclaims all obligations to them. And the statutory and common-law legal duties Plaintiffs *do* seek to enforce are entirely independent of that contract. Surely Respondents cannot seriously contend that they have no duties to their customers or members of the public under South Carolina law other than whatever commitments they voluntarily make when contracting with insurance agencies. At any rate, the only contractual duties Respondents owe their customers arise not from the Agency Agreement, but from insurance policies or promises made to customers—agreements that do not have arbitration clauses.

If the Court of Appeals' reasoning becomes the law of this state, there will be nothing stopping a corporation from forcing individuals' claims into arbitration based on an arbitration clause in an unrelated contract with another party which those individuals never agreed to, never saw, and never sought to enforce. Nothing in South Carolina law permits such a result.

The decision below should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Court granted review of the following questions:

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by enforcing the arbitration clause in the Agency Agreement against Plaintiffs, who are not parties to that contract and have not sought any benefits under it?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that Plaintiffs' claims are within the scope of the Agency Agreement's arbitration clause, where the clause is limited to five categories of disputes, none of which is implicated by Plaintiffs' claims; and where Plaintiffs' claims arise from duties established by South Carolina law, not the contract containing the arbitration clause?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Laura Willis was an insurance agent in Abbeville County. Working under the supervision of broker Jesse Dantice for insurance agency Southern Risk, Willis sold policies for Respondents to local residents. Willis was no ordinary agent. Between 2008 and 2012, she allegedly engaged in extensive unlawful and unethical practices designed to enlist as many customers as possible, corner the retail insurance market, and put her competition out of business—without regard to the law or the fate of the customers who depended on her to ensure that they were adequately protected from risk or for law-abiding insurance agents competing for business. App. 328-31.

Among other things, Willis allegedly repeatedly forged insurance documents; changed information on applications without customers' permission to omit facts that would have warranted higher rates; submitted applications using her own personal drivers' license and Social Security Number in order to obtain lower rates than those for which customers would have actually qualified; quoted severely reduced premiums in violation of state regulations; issued policies on unsigned applications; appropriated cash payments for her own personal use; issued bogus policies; pretended policies were in effect when losses occurred; fraudulently adjusted loss claims made against the policies; and charged customers for nonexistent and duplicative policies. App. 328-31; 375. When customers inquired whether they indeed had coverage or whether they needed to obtain insurance elsewhere, Willis discouraged them from seeking other coverage, reassuring them all was in order—even as lienholders and government agencies were notifying customers that they were not insured. App. 329. Willis allegedly used these illegal tactics on Respondents' behalf, with their authorization, and for their benefit—and thereby generated rapid growth and profits for Respondents. App. 330.

In 2011, the South Carolina Insurance Commission fined Willis, publicly reprimanded her, and placed her on probation for dishonesty. App. 328. Nonetheless, Respondents allegedly never investigated Willis, never questioned the increased profits she generated, and never stopped her from engaging in these unlawful practices. She continued to work in the industry issuing policies for Respondents. App. 328-31.

Willis' allegedly illegal conduct harmed two groups of people in Abbeville. First, they harmed Respondents' customers ("Customers"), who were led to believe they had purchased legitimate insurance policies. As a result of Willis' allegedly unlawful business practices, Customers lost a great deal of their money, ended up with damaged credit, and had difficulty

obtaining new insurance policies. App. 331. Second, Willis' allegedly unlawful practices harmed local insurance agents who operated responsible, law-abiding businesses in Abbeville and competed with Willis for business ("Agents"). Willis' tactics lowered insurance premiums for the general public, making it impossible for Agents to compete for customers. App. 130. As a result, Agents lost revenue and clients, were unable to compete in the local insurance market, and effectively had their livelihoods destroyed. *See* App. 128.

B. The Trial Court Proceedings and the Arbitration Clause

Plaintiffs-Petitioners Customers and Agents filed lawsuits against Defendants-Respondents Montgomery, Peerless, and Safeco; other insurance companies; the Southern Risk agency; and Willis and her boss Jesse Dantice. They allege that Respondents are liable under a respondeat superior theory for Willis' misrepresentations, fraud, unfair and deceptive acts, and conversion; that Respondents should have been on notice of Willis' activities based on the volume of new business she generated in a short amount of time; and that they should have discovered and stopped her wrongdoing. App. 101-04; 120; 130; 162-63; 330; *see also Wilson v. Willis*, 416 S.C. 395, 405, 786 S.E.2d 571, 576 (Ct. App. 2016); App. 917. Plaintiffs also allege that Respondents had a duty to investigate, train, and supervise her—especially after she was publicly disciplined by the Insurance Commission. App. 127-28; 328. Plaintiffs allege causes of action for violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act and common-law unfair trade practices (App. 130-31; 331-32; 378-79); fraud, conversion, and negligent misrepresentation (Customers only) (App. 332-35; 380-82); and civil conspiracy and tortious interference with contractual relations (Agents only) (App. 132-33). They seek damages, restitution, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees and costs. *E.g.*, App. 331-35.

In answering the Plaintiffs' complaints, Respondents did not mention the Agency Agreement or any arbitration clause. *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 406-07, 786 S.E.2d at 577; App. 918.

Instead, they acknowledged that any “duties owed by them to an insured are set forth in certain statutes, in case law, and in the contract of insurance between them and their insured.” App. 401. Respondents also filed declaratory judgment actions against some of the Plaintiffs, first in federal court, then state court. App. 30-33; App. 234. In their state court action, Respondents argued that the Court of Common Pleas had jurisdiction over the parties’ claims. App. 226. These actions were subsequently dismissed. *E.g.*, App. 106.

Nearly a year into the litigation, after the parties had commenced discovery and motions to dismiss were filed, Respondents filed Motions to Compel Arbitration. App. 24-25, 561; 573. The other party to the Agency Agreement, Southern Risk, did not seek to compel arbitration, nor did any of the other insurance companies. The arbitration clause Respondents sought to enforce appeared in the 2010 Agency Agreement, a contract between “the undersigned Agency [Southern Risk] . . . on behalf of” each Respondent “Company” identified in the addenda. App. 459. Attached to the Agency Agreement are two addenda—one for Montgomery (App. 468), and one for Safeco (App. 470). There is no addendum for Peerless in the record.

The Agency Agreement sets out the business relationship between each Respondent “Company” and the “Agency” Southern Risk. App. 459-67. It addresses the “[a]uthority” of Southern Risk to act as an agent for Respondents; the “[r]esponsibilities” of Southern Risk to Respondents; the allocation of ownership between Respondents and Southern Risk of “expirations” and work product; the payment of commissions by Respondents to Southern Risk; and the handling of “[d]irect-[b]illed” and “[a]gency-[b]illed” business. App. 459-62.

The Agency Agreement expressly disclaims any duties to nonparties such as Plaintiffs, providing that “Company’s obligations under this Agreement extend only to the Agency named in this Agreement and not to its employees, sub producers, *or anyone else.*” App. 466 (emphasis

added). Numerous other provisions likewise make clear that the agreement is between the two named parties only. *See, e.g.*, App. 466 (“This Agreement and any addenda hereto constitute the entire agreement between Company and Agency”); App. 465 (“Each party is providing to the other . . . information that is confidential and proprietary”); *id.* (“neither party will disclose such Confidential or Proprietary Information of the other”). The addenda, likewise, make clear that they apply only to each Respondent and Southern Risk. *See, e.g.*, App. 468 (“This Addendum applies only to Agency’s relationship and transactions with Montgomery Insurance”).

The Agency Agreement has an arbitration clause, which, like the contract in which it is contained, makes clear that it is between two parties: each Respondent insurance company and Southern Risk. It states, in relevant part:

If any dispute or disagreement arises in connection with the interpretation of this Agreement, its performance or nonperformance, its termination, the figures and calculations used or any nonpayment of accounts, the parties will make efforts to meet and settle their disputes in good faith informally. If the parties cannot agree . . . , then the matter in controversy, upon request of either party, will be settled by arbitration . . . ; provided, however, that this provision will not apply to claims for equitable relief or, at Company’s election, Company’s claims for unpaid premiums. . . .

App. 464. The arbitration clause also provides that “[t]he parties will agree to submit the dispute to one arbitrator,” that costs are to be borne “equally by the parties,” that “[e]ach party is responsible for its own attorneys’ fees,” and that “either party” may elect to have the dispute decided by a panel of three arbitrators. *Id.*

Despite the fact that the arbitration clause in the Agency Agreement is Respondents’ sole basis for their argument that they are entitled to compel Plaintiffs to arbitrate, Respondents provided no admissible evidence whatsoever to authenticate the Agency Agreement, nor any

testimony by a declarant with personal knowledge to verify Respondents' relationships with Southern Risk—only arguments of counsel. *See* App. 563; 575-76.

Respondents conceded that Plaintiffs are not parties to the Agency Agreement or its arbitration clause, but insisted that they should be required to arbitrate anyhow. According to Respondents, the Plaintiffs' claims are "premised on the Insurers' alleged duties that would not exist but for the Insurers' agency agreement with the agency, Southern Risk." App. 561-62. Respondents argued that the mere fact that Plaintiffs "did not personally sign" the Agency Agreement should be no barrier to its enforcement against them. App. 564. Citing cases where courts enforced arbitration clauses against plaintiffs who brought breach of contract claims, Respondents contended that Plaintiffs should be bound by the Agency Agreement under the doctrine of equitable estoppel. *See generally* App. 564-69.

Plaintiffs opposed the motions, explaining that their claims were premised not on the Agency Agreement between Respondents and Southern Risk—of which they were unaware until Respondents' motion to compel arbitration—but on legal duties established by South Carolina law. App. 619; 624-25; 627; 628-30. They also argued that their claims are outside the scope of Respondents' clause, which, unlike the clauses South Carolina courts have found to be broad, limits arbitration to only five kinds of dispute. App. 626-28; 630-31. Plaintiffs also argued that Respondents had waived any right to arbitration they may have had, and that the clause was not validly formed because Southern Risk had not signed the Agency Agreement. App. 620-24.

Judge Griffith held a hearing on the enforceability of the arbitration clause. App. 407. On March 25, 2014, the circuit court denied Respondents' motions to compel arbitration. App. 16-25.

First, the court held that the non-party Plaintiffs are not bound by Respondents' arbitration clause. The court recognized that "South Carolina courts have enforced arbitration clauses [against nonparties] under the doctrine of equitable estoppel," but found that doctrine "inapplicable to the instant claims." App. 21. The court explained that, in "limited instances," a nonparty may be compelled to arbitrate where "'he has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him.'" App. 21 (quoting *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012)). But the court found that:

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