THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 29 2018

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-01-00306  
Supreme Court Case No. 2016-001512

Richard Wilson, Michael J. Antoniak, Jr., Marsha L. Antoniak,  
Anita L. Belton, Prescott Darren Bosler, Johnny Calhoun, Sallie  
Calhoun, Cynthia Gary, Robert Wayne Gary, Eugene P. Lawton,  
Jr., Jeanette Norman, James Robert Shirley, Robert W. Spires,  
Crystal Spires Wiley, Lewis S. Williams, Janie Wiltshire,  
Benjamin Franklin Wofford, Jr., and Rebecca Hammond Wofford ..... Petitioners,

v.

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

### ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court’s established precedent to the allegations and claims raised in the subject complaints. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals’ opinion and this Court’s precedent, and the cases upon which Petitioners rely are distinguishable from the cases at bar. As explained below, all of the allegations and claims against the Insurers arise from rights, duties, and obligations imposed solely by the Agency Agreement, and Petitioners cannot seek to enforce and benefit from the Agreement while avoiding its arbitration provision. Accordingly, they are estopped from avoiding the arbitration provision based on the allegations raised. Furthermore, contrary to Ms. Williams’ arguments, her suit does not fall within the statutory exception to arbitration for claims arising from an insurance policy, and the Insurers did not waive their right to compel arbitration of her claims against them.

**I. The Court of Appeals correctly held Petitioners’ claims against the Insurers could be compelled to arbitration pursuant to a contract they did not sign because those claims depend on and seek to enforce rights, duties, and obligations found only in the contract.**

The Court of Appeals correctly applied South Carolina precedent holding that one who did not himself sign a contract may nevertheless be estopped from avoiding that contract’s arbitration provision if he seeks to enforce or benefit from the contract’s terms. In an effort to avoid this conclusion, Petitioners raise two primary arguments.

First, Petitioners attack the sequence in which the Court of Appeals arranged its analysis, arguing the court erred by beginning its analysis with the question of whether the claims against the Insurers fell within the scope of the arbitration provision “without first determining whether Plaintiffs could be bound by that clause in the first place.” (*See* Brief of Pet. at 14–17.) Second, Petitioners assert the Court of Appeals erred in holding they are equitably estopped from avoiding the arbitration agreement, arguing that (according to Petitioners) their suits do not rely on or seek to enforce the Agency Agreement, but rather seek only to enforce their rights under South Carolina statutory and common law. (*See id.* at 17–25.)

As explained below, both of Petitioners’ arguments should be rejected. The Court of Appeals properly analyzed the claims against the Insurers and concluded they are limited to the Insurers’ alleged failure to properly investigate, train, supervise, detect and prevent Willis’ wrongdoing, all of which are duties arising solely from the Agency Agreement. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that under relevant case law regarding the application of arbitration provisions to non-signatories, Petitioners cannot seek to benefit from some of these contractual duties while avoiding the contractual obligation to arbitrate disputes relating to the contract’s performance and non-performance.

**A. The Court of Appeals did not err in the sequence of its analysis.**

Petitioners argue the Court of Appeals erred in the order in which it organized the analysis section of its Opinion. Specifically, Petitioners argue the court erred by placing its analysis of whether their claims fell within the scope of the arbitration provision—a question to which a presumption in

favor of arbitration applies<sup>7</sup>—before analyzing the question of whether they, as non-signatories to the contract, were bound by its arbitration provision. (See Brief of Pet. at 14–17.)

The sequence of analysis of these two questions is immaterial. Whether the questions are answered in fact is all that matters. The central question when analyzing if a non-signatory is bound by a contract’s arbitration clause is whether he relies on or seeks to benefit from the contract’s provisions. *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 290, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012). In the instant lawsuits, that question is essentially the same as the inquiry to determine if the claims fall within the scope of the arbitration clause, namely whether the “dispute or disagreement arises in connection with the interpretation of this Agreement [or] its performance or non-performance.” (2010 Agency Agreement at ¶ 12.A (App. 464).) Clearly, the disputes involved here arise “in connection with” the “performance” or “nonperformance” of the Agency Agreement. The sequence in which the Court of Appeals’ Opinion addressed those issues makes no difference to the outcome.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals’ organization of its Opinion mirrors the sequence in which the trial court analyzed these issues in the Order on appealed. (See App. 18–25.) An appellate court’s decision to structure the outline of its Opinion to analyze the lower court conclusions *in seriatim* is no basis upon which to fault the appellate court, and the Court of Appeals’ decision to lay out its analysis in the order it did was not error.

---

<sup>7</sup> Petitioners elsewhere argue this presumption should not apply to the arbitration provision at issue. (See Brief of Pet. at 27.) The Insurers respond to that argument in Section II, *infra*.

**B. Equitable estoppel requires non-parties to a contract to be bound by the contract's arbitration provision if they, like Petitioners, rely on or seek to benefit from the contract's terms.**

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled the Petitioners' claims against the Insurers arise solely from and depend entirely on the Insurers' alleged non-performance of duties imposed only by the Agency Agreement, and thus held Petitioners were equitably estopped from relying on the Agreement's terms while avoiding the Agreement's arbitration provision. Petitioners attack this holding, arguing their claims against the Insurers rely not on the Insurers' contractual obligations but, rather, on statutory and common law duties. (*See* Brief of Pet. at 19–20 (“Plaintiffs have never sought *any* benefit under the Agency Agreement . . . . What Plaintiffs *do* allege is that Respondents, in engaging in the insurance business in Abbeville, had a duty not to violate South Carolina’s statutory and common-law protections.”).) Petitioners’ arguments fail for the following reasons.

**1. Petitioners’ only claims against the Insurers are that the Insurers allegedly failed adequately to investigate, train, and supervise Willis and to detect and prevent her wrongdoing.**

Notwithstanding Petitioners’ protestations to the contrary, each of their allegations against the Insurers is premised on rights or duties imposed by and existing solely under the Agency Agreement, namely the Insurers’ alleged failure properly to investigate, train, and supervise Willis, and to detect and stop her wrongdoing. On appeal, however, Petitioners belatedly attempt to expand the scope of their Complaints, arguing that what their claims *really* allege is that the Insurers violated South Carolina statutes and common law.<sup>8</sup> As explained

---

<sup>8</sup> Curiously, despite repeating this assertion throughout their Brief, Petitioners fail to point to any statute or case law imposing on an insurer the legal duty to investigate, train, supervise, and audit the independent agents, brokers, or employees of same who work with customers seeking to purchase an insurers’ products. Petitioners cited one statute to the Court of Appeals in support of this argument, but the court correctly noted the cited statute had not appeared in the Code for

below, Petitioners' arguments are belied both by the Complaints themselves and by South Carolina case law.

The underlying Complaints rebut Petitioners' attempt to broaden the scope of the Complaints' allegations. The only alleged wrongful acts asserted against the Insurers in the Complaints are their supposed failures to supervise and control Willis. The Complaints make no other factual allegations regarding the Insurers' conduct nor do they allege the Insurers themselves had any contact or involvement with the Petitioners.

Petitioners argue that their Complaints allege statutory and common law violations such as the allegation that the Insurers "accepted money from Customers in exchange for insurance policies that were forged, inapplicable, illegal, and in some cases even nonexistent." (See Brief of Pet. at 20 (citing App. 328–30).) But a review of the cited pages of the Complaint reveals they contain primarily factual allegations related to *Ms. Willis'* actions, and the only allegations directed at the Insurers are that they failed to perform their duties to investigate, train, supervise, and monitor her. (See App. 328–30 (alleging the Insurers had a "duty to fully investigate . . . properly train and supervise" Willis; that her wrongdoing "could have been discovered, and should have been discovered and stopped by the Defendants, through reasonable direct supervision . . . as well as through auditing computer programs which reveal fraud and/or misconduct of agents"; and that the volume of business generated by Willis "should have put the Defendants on notice that something was being done improperly, giving the Defendants a reason to investigate her activity.").)

---

over 30 years and did not support Petitioners' argument. See *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 418 n.11, 786 S.E.2d at 583 n.11.

Petitioners argue “the rights they seek to vindicate through this lawsuit—the right to be free from fraud, the right not to have one’s money misappropriated, the right not to be a victim of unfair competition—are not rights that came into being when Respondents and Southern Risk entered into the Agency Agreement.” (Brief of Pet. at 24.) The problem with this argument, however, is that the Complaints allege it was *Ms. Willis*, not the Insurers, who committed fraud, misappropriated money, and competed unfairly. (*See, e.g.*, App. 328–30 (factual allegation of Antoniak Complaint).) Indeed, the Petitioners’ Petition for Certiorari conceded the Insurers’ wrongs (if any) arise only from their supposed failure to investigate, train, supervise, and audit Willis, not from any other independent tortious acts of their own:

Plaintiffs allege that Willis’ conduct violated South Carolina’s unfair trade practices law, and that Defendants are responsible for those violations *because they failed to investigate, train and supervise, and audit Willis*.

(Pet. for Cert. at 22 (emphasis added); *see also id.* at 5 (asserting in the “Factual Background” of the Petition that the only alleged wrongdoing by the Insurers was that they “never investigated Willis, never questioned the increased profits she generated, and never stopped her from engaging in these unlawful practices”).)

In addition, Petitioners’ belated claim that the Insurers are vicariously liable for Willis’ wrongdoing (*see* Brief of Pet. at 37) fails both because it was not appropriately raised in the underlying Complaints and because it is barred by South Carolina law. None of the Complaints assert any claim, theory, or cause of action based on vicarious liability or *respondeat superior*, nor do they allege the Insurers are responsible for Willis’ wrongful acts. Rather, they allege the Insurers are liable for their *own* supposed failings to perform adequate background checks, properly train and supervise her, conduct computerized audits, and the like. Even if the

Complaints had raised the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, South Carolina's courts have held an insurer is *not* vicariously liable for conduct like that of Willis as alleged here. *See Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 423, 428–29, 412 S.E.2d 425, 429 (Ct. App. 1991) (rejecting plaintiff's claim that the doctrine of *respondeat superior* made the insurer liable for the agent's acts of "lying on the application" and subsequently assisting the beneficiary in making "a fraudulent claim for benefits," noting the agent was not acting in furtherance of the insurer's business as evidenced by the fact that he lied about his conduct, falsified the application for insurance, never attempted to deliver the policy to the insured, and personally profited financially from his wrongdoing).

In sum, Petitioners cannot now seek to finesse the nature of the claims and allegations actually contained in their Complaints, all of which limit their allegations against the Insurers to their supposed failure to investigate, train, supervise, detect, and stop the Willis wrongdoing.

**2. The Insurers' alleged failure to properly investigate, train, supervise, detect, and prevent Willis' wrongdoing rest on rights or duties imposed solely by the Agency Agreement.**

As explained above, the only allegations and claims the underlying Complaints raised against the Insurers were that the Insurers failed to properly investigate, train, and supervise Willis, and to detect and stop her wrongdoing. These supposed failings rest exclusively on rights or duties imposed solely by the Agency Agreement. First, the plaintiffs allege in their Complaints that the alleged wrongdoer, Willis, operated "under the direct supervision of" the Insurers. (*See, e.g.*, Norman Compl. at ¶ 2 (App. 372).<sup>9</sup>) The Insurers' supervisory authority over Willis, however, if any, is grounded *solely* in the Agency Agreement. Further, it is only pursuant to the Agency Agreement that Willis "is authorized to solicit and submit applications"

---

<sup>9</sup> Each of the Complaints asserts the same allegation.

for insurance from the Insurers. (*See* Agency Agreement at ¶ 1.B (App. 459); *id.* at Safeco Addendum ¶ 2 (App. 470).) Hence, Petitioners wish to seek to enforce and benefit from alleged contract obligations owed by the Insurers without being bound by the arbitration provision in the same contract.

Second, the plaintiffs allege in their Complaints that the corporate defendants had “a legal duty to fully investigate and do full background research on” Willis. (*See, e.g.*, Shirley Amend. Compl. at ¶ 9 (App. 388).<sup>10</sup>) The Insurers’ alleged ability to perform or have the agency perform a background check on Willis is also derived from the Agency Agreement. (*See* Agency Agreement at ¶ 2.F (App. 460).) Similarly, it is the Agency Agreement that requires the agents and their employees to be properly licensed and credentialed. (*Id.* at ¶ 2.C (App. 459).) Thus, again, the Petitioners’ claims of failure to investigate and check Willis’ background are dependent upon the existence of the Agency Agreement.

Third, the underlying Complaints allege the Insurers had “a legal duty to properly train and supervise” Willis. (*See, e.g.*, Norman Compl. at ¶ 8 (App. 373).<sup>11</sup>) Yet again, this alleged duty to train and supervise, as far as it goes, is grounded in the Agency Agreements. (*See* Agency Agreement at ¶ 1.C (App. 459); *id.* at Safeco Addendum ¶ 3 (App. 470–71).)

Fourth, Petitioners allege in their Complaints that all of Willis’ wrongful acts were performed “with the express or implied permission of the other Defendants.” (*See, e.g.*, Lawton Compl. at ¶ 9 (App. 340).<sup>12</sup>) As noted above, the only source of Willis’ authority or permission to act in relation to the Insurers is derived from the Agency Agreements. In addition, the Agency

---

<sup>10</sup> The other Complaints contain essentially the same allegations.

<sup>11</sup> Each of the Complaints contains an identical or substantially identical assertion.

<sup>12</sup> Each of the Complaints contains an identical or substantially identical assertion.

Agreements expressly limit the permission given to Willis to the acts expressly permitted by the Agreements. (See Agency Agreement at ¶¶ 1.C, 1.F, and 2.A (App. 459).)

Fifth, Petitioners allege in their Complaints that the Insurers had the ability and duty to detect and stop Willis' wrongful acts, and that Willis' wrongful acts "could have been discovered and should have been discovered and stopped by the Defendants through reasonable direct supervision of Defendant Laura B. Willis' activities as well and through auditing computer programs which reveal fraud and/or misconduct of agents and/or customers." (See, e.g., Wofford Compl. at ¶ 19 (App. 119).<sup>13</sup>) As noted above, any alleged ability by the Insurers to supervise Willis exists, if at all, only via the Agency Agreements. In addition, the Insurers' alleged ability to audit Willis' work is provided solely pursuant to the Agency Agreements. (See Agency Agreement at ¶¶ 6.C, 6.D, and 8 (App. 462–63).) Similarly, Willis' and Southern Risk's obligation to keep accurate records is an obligation imposed by the Agreement. (See *id.* at ¶ 15.A (App. 465–66).)

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